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FOREWORD 

The Report of tne Patiala Enquiry Committee appointed by 
the Indian States' Peopl~ 's Conferenc~ sees the light of the day at a 
time when India is passing through a severe crisis unprecedented 
in the history of nations. It is possible, therefore, that it rPay not 
receive the attention that is its due. The state of things as 
revealed by th~ Report is most deplorable. It will haunt the 
imagination of those who have once read it. 

There is a wonderful awakening in the India of today. Th~ 
Indian Nation is astir. The stirrings in British India have their reper. 
c,:!ssions on the public life in the States. The hearts of the people 
both in British India and the States are beating in unison, and 
the consciousness of a common nationality is evolving everyday. 
The voice of the people of Bri tish India has grown powerful, and 
makes itself heard even beyond the seas. The muffled voice of 
the people of the States is indistinct and low. It comes as if from 
the grave. Even that voice, alas, is smothered and stifled. The 
feeble voice is in a real danger of being drowned. 

Is there a National Conscience in India.? Is the Fight for 
National Freedom real and earnest? Are the efforts for national 
self-realisation sincere? If the answer to thes~ questions is in 
the affirmative, there is not the shadow of a doubt that the 
revelations contained in the following pages will give a rude 
shock to the self-compIascency of many a good soul working in 
the forefront of public life in India and will set many a heart 
ablaze with indignation at the thought of miJIions of their felIow­
countrymen treated as worse than serfs and slaves under the 
system of one-man's rule now prevailing in the States. 

If the wrongs of the people of Patiala do not awaken a respon­
sive chord in the hearts of the whole Indian Nation, if the barbari­
ties described in this Report escape unnoticed by the public in India, 
if the unforgettable is allowed to be forgotten \\<ithout making its 
repetition impossible, tben surely there m'4st ,he something amiss 



with our Nationalism, and there must arise douhts as regards 

the genuinenes'J of our yearnings for Freedom. 

Confident in the strf'ngth and vigour of the Indian Nation­
alism, cOllfioent in the rightness and purity of ollr fight for fref'OOfll, 
confidt'nt in the justice and righleoUSnes'l of ollr C':1uc;e. and con­
fidt'lll ill the <;trength of our case as i11l1stratt·d by our prolongt'd 

anel illtt'nc;~ "ufft:rin~st we submit this Report, to till' public, 
at; a foreta<;te of what the system of autocracy meanc; to icc; 
unhappy victims today, and hope that the fire that burns today in 

Ih'~ hearts of a few devoted servants of the people of the States 

wilt gather strength and momentum everyday and will succeed, 
within a measurable distance of tirne, in destroying all that 

stand" between the people arlit their <;elf-reaJi<;ation :lOd in n'sur­
recting t hf'ir broken life. 

\Ve have strong hopes th'lt 'the Indictment of Patiala' will 
be read and digestfd by Indians all over the COUll try, and that 
it wiJI provide a powerful antidote to the false doctrines of the 
'Divine Right of Kings', 'the loyalty of the subjects', 'the benefits 

of one-man's rule' and ·the identity of interests between the 
Princes and the People.' We expect that forc~s will be released 

by this vision of the personal rule as provided by the Chancellor 
of the Chamber of Princes which will incessantly work for the 

vindication ann ultimate triumph of the doctrine of the Sovereignty 
of the People. ' . 

We are grateful to the memiJt!rs of the Committee for their 
labour of love, and also to the variou'i organisations and indivi­
duals who have contributed to the success of its mission. We 
deeply appreciate the spirit of service and sacri6ce exhibited by 
all of them, and we are full of admiration particularly for the 
thousands of the people of Patiala, who had the courage, in 
spite of prohibitions and persecutions, to come forward before the 

Committee to ac;sist in its arduo ustask. 

BmrnAY 
20-2-30 

Balwantray Mehta 
Manlsbanker Trivedi 

General Secretaries 



IJART I 

CO:M::MITTEE'S REPORT 



1. PRELIMINARY 

1. This Committee was constituted by the foJlowing reso· 
lution of the working committee of the Indian States' People's 
Conference passed in its meeting of the lith August 1929 held 
Ifl Bombay: 

fI This meeting oj tke workmg committee oj the Indian Statel 
People's ronjerence appoints an enqu,lry commlttee1 of the 
jollowing members, with power to co-opt, to go to the 
Punjab, to make all necessary and posBl'ble enquir£es mto 
the allegations made m tlte memoria! presented to H. 
E. the Viceroy bv some rz/£ZCltS of tlte Patiala state 
and report to this committee as early as josslble, thei, 
opinion on the substance contained in tile saui 'memorzal. 

I. C. Y. Chintamani F..sqr, Chairman 

2. L. R. Tairsee Esqr. 
J. Sardar Sardulsingh Cavisher Esqr. 
4. Prof. G. R. Abhyanker 
5. Amritlal D. Seth Esqr. 

S Lrdar Sardul Singh having expressed his inability to work 
on the Committee, Mr. A. V. Thakker was appointed in his place 
by the Working Committee in its subsequent meeting. 

2. Of the members of the Committee, Mr. Chintamani, the 
chairman, and Mr. Tairsee, another member, could not go to 
the Punjab. Messrs. Thakker, Sheth and Abhyanker, therefore, con­
uucted the enquiry J Mr. Thakk~r acting as Chairman. 

3, It is pertinf!l1t to give here the genesis of this Commi­
ttee. During the session of the Indian States' People's Conference 
held in Bomay in the month ot May ill 192!} ullder the pre$ident. 

1 



2 

ship of Mr. Ch;ntamani, the Gen. Secretary of the Conference 
received a copy of the Memorial submitted by ten gentlemen of 
Patiala to H. E. the Viceroy; the Gen. Secretary distributed copies 
of the same in the Conference. Allegations made in this Memorial 
were so astounding that everyone that read it was shocked and 
exclaimed: "No, no. These can't be true; if they were tru~, 
the ~overnment won't stand them." But the fact remained 
that the Memorial had been submitted to H. E. the Viceroy 
and that the memorialists had ondertaken to prove all the 
allegations if they were afforded an occasion and facilities to do 
the same. The Memorial still remains undisposed of by the Govern· 
ment of India. Thus the Memorial had become the principal 
topic of discussiou during the conference days. Mr. Chintamani, 
the President of the Conference, during the course of an informal 
discussion said "Even if '5 p. c. of what is wri ttell here 
is true, the man deserves a sack from his gaddi." The Work­
ing Committee of the Conference therefore took up the matter 
seriously and appointed this Committee to enquire into the 
allegations made in the Memorial. 

4. The Committee wa., fully aware of the difficulties that 
lay ahead. The Maharaja of Patiala is regarded as one 
of the leading Princes of India. He j!> al.,o the Chancellor 
of the Chamber of Princes. Occupying the throne of 
Patiala for 20 years; he wields in hi., .,tate all the 
autocratic powers which unlimited monarchy has given him. 
As Chancellor of the Chamber of Prince'>, he holds a. position of 
responsibility under the British Government. Thu", while on the 
one hand the Maharaja of Patiala is really a very powerful 
Indian Ruter, on the other are his helpless subjects pitted 
against him with absolutely no political powers. They have to 

l fight single-handed against the misrule of this prince. Almost aU 
the victims of the oppression of this ruler as also the witnesses 
of the oppression are the subjects of the state and are living 
in PatiaIa jurisdiction. Possessing ve'ited intete<;ts in the State they 
are exposed to a very great risk both to their persons and to their 



. properties in deposing against the ruler while he remains installed on 
his gadi and the Committee is powerl~ss to affora any protection 
to them. Under these limitations the Committee felt considerabJy 
handicapped in its work. But still it c;tarted on its mission and the 
Committee ic; glad to announce to the public that it has certainly 
b~en able to gather a good deal of material which when examined and 
analysed estabJi..,hes a <;trong llYima facie case against the Maharaja. 

S. The number of allegation., mentioned in the Memorial is 
very largt'. Naturally the Committee could not go into all of them 
because it had not adequate mean') at its disposal to do so. Some 
of the allega.tiol1,) are "ueh that it was very difficult for the Co­
mmittee to get into touch with the persons concerned. For example 
there is the allegation about the licentiousness and debased habi­
t'> of tbe Maharaja the principal victims of which are the Pahadi 
Girls The evidence to this charge cannot be obtained by 
merely going' to the hills. Unless the relations of these 
aggrieved girls came before the Committee it was impossible 
to ascertain the exact details. The relations are panic-stricken 
and belong to the ignorant and illiterate hill-tribes. There is 
another allegation about per<;on<; rotting in Patiala jails. It was impossi­
ble to visit these people in the .Patiala jurisdiction. If an official 
enquiry is held these inmates of the jails in Patiala can be summon­
ed to give t"vidence. About the financial condition of the state 
and about its general administration the only authentic proofs are 
the administration-reports and the budgets of the Stat~. Tbis 
material is not available to the public. The Committee, therefore, 
had to be content with the investigation .. of only a few of the al~e­
gations in the Memorial and had to base its report on the material 
that came before it during the course of the investigations. For 
.the purposes of this report the Committee has, therefore, prep~red 
the follwing counts of indictment on which the Committee would 
proceed t'l report: 

1. 
2. 

Lal Singh's murder. 
The setting up ~nd maintaining of a bomb 
the Fort <)f 13alwiur Garll in Patiala State. 

factory 
. ., 
111 



S. Disappearance of Bichiter Kaur, her son and her daugh~r. 

4. Keeping a.nd not releasing the wiftt of Sardar Amar Singh. 

5. mega! arrest and confinement of Sardar Harchand Singh 
and confiscation of his property worth 20 lakhs. 

6. Concoction of false cases. 

7. Inhuman tortures, illegal arrests and confinements and 
high-handed consfications of property. 

8. Ruinous consequences of Maharaja's Shikars. 

9. Tyranny of begar or forced labour and the system of 
exacting provisions. 

10. Non-return of War Loan money_ 

11. Revenut' an~ Irrigation grievances. 

J 2. Misappropriation of funds raised for public purposes. 

6. The Committee started its work from 16th of December 
1929 at Lahore and finished its labours on the 30th of December at 
Lahore. It visited Buldhana, Ambala and Ludhiana for the purpose of 
taking evidence of witness.;:.s residing near those place.,. In all it 
held twelve sittingc;. It orally examined 46 witnesc;es and took 35 
oral statements. Hundreds of people attended the Committee's sittings 
at Buldhana, Ambala and Ludhiana, many of whom took 
part in the general discU';sion with the Committee about the state 
of administration in Patiala and gave great help in under­
standing the real situation prevailing. 12 written statements were 
tendered to the Committee by witnesc;es themselves, while 46 
written statements that were taken by the Punjab Riyasati MandaI 
were handed over to the Committee by the Manda1. The Com· 
mittee did not cqll in these witnesses before it, because witnesses 
stating similar things had already been examined by the Committee. 

7. The proceedings of the Committee are given herein as 
appendix A. A list and substance of the exhibits are given a<; 
appendix B. In appendix C is given the Patiala Memorial which 
was the principal subject matter of enquiry. In appendix D 
is ~iven the _'evidence in support of each count of the 
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allegations. In appendix Ewe give some of the fuILwritteu 
statements receiv~ by the Committee. This has been nec.ess~ry, 

beca.use the a.rrangement of publication of evidence has been 
aecording to counts under which only reI event extracts-and not 
futI statsments-could be inserted. Publication of full statements 
was deemed necessary to give a complete idea of the whole 
situation. In appendix F we give the facsimiIies of several 
importan t documen t5. 

8. The Committee would now proceed to examine each of 
the counts. 

2. EXAMINA110N OF ALLEGATIONS 

Count one: murder of s. Lal Singh 

Substance of the allegatton 

9. Sardar Lal Singh who was the cousin of the father-in-law 
of the Maharaja, married a beautiful wife named Dilip Kaur. 
The Maharaja saw the woman, fell in love with her and kept' her in 
his palace. He tried his best to induce Sardar LaI Singh to divorce 
her. Lal Singh refused. The woman was staying in the palace.alI 
along and had two daughters by the Maharaja. Only once or 
twice she was allowed to go to her husband. The Maharaja then 
married her privately. Lal Singh then expressed· his intention to 
approach the British Government. This upset the Maharaja. He 
asked Nanak Singh, his Superintendent of C. I. D. to dispose of 
Lal Singh and gave him money for the purpose. But as Nanak 
Singh could not accomplish the deed soon, senrices of one Gum­
dur Singh, a notorious exile from Patiala were,.securt>d for the pur­
pose. It appears that it was arranged that the murder should take 
place when the Maharaja, would be absent in England. -The plot 
of murder was then hatched and after one unsuccessful attempt 
Sardart-al Singh wasmur4~red.Whennews of this murder reach­
'!dthe ·)labaraja ·in Eng1a~d,.he~lbuiedvtesents". worth Rs, 



1100 among his men. After allowing a little time to pass, the 
Maharaja married this Dilip Kaur publicly. The woman is now 
known as Her Highnesc; the Maharani Dilip Kaur. 

Evidlmrf, 1'n support of this alle/{ati01t 

10. The foHowing is the evidence in support of this count 

1. Jay Singh's evidence, Ex, 38. [ See appendix D] 

2. Private note of Nanak Singh, the Chief of PatiaJa 
C. I. D. prepared before his arrest, Ex. 38A. 
[See appendix D] 

3. Judgment in Nanak Singh'c; cac;e in Patiala Court, 
Ex. 38B. [See appendix D ] 

4. Memorial of Nana.k Singh to the Viceroy, Ex. 
38C. [ See a.ppendix D] 

5. Draft of divorce-deed in the hand-writing of Sir 
Daya Rishen Kaul, Ex. 38 D. L See Appendix F.] 

6. Two letters of Sir Daya Kishen Kaul, Ex, 38 E 
& F. [See Appendix F.] 

7, Two letters of Sardar Sunder Singh Majithia, Ex. 
38G & H. [St'e Appendix F.] 

8 Letters of Gurnam Singh, the father-in-law of 
the Maharaja, Ex. 38. [See Appendix F.] 

Examination of the evidence 

11. Let us now proceed to examine the evidence We are 
ill possession of two important document') in this connection. They 
are Ex. 38A and 38B. The first i<; the statement made by 
Nanak Singh himself and the other is the judgment of the Patiala 
Court in Nanak Singh's case. So far as the details of the plan of 
the murder, the execution of the same, as also the part played by 
everyone except the Maharaja in this affair are concerned, both 
these documents agree in aU details. That is, the statement made 
by Nanak Singh and the judgment of the Court, both agree as to 
following facts'(1) That La! Singh's wife was in the palace. (2) that 



Nanak 'Singh and Gamdur Singh. the murderer, both attempted to 
take' a divorce deed from l;al Singh, (3) that LaJSingh 
refused to consent to the divorce, (4-) that Gamdur Singh 
was an exile from Patiala. that all his property was confiscated, 
and that all his attempts to get back his property and his return 
to Patiala had proved in vain even though he bad sought inter­
vention of the British Government to that end, before he was 
called in to take part in the murder, (5) that all of a sudden his 
application to be allowed to return to Patiala and for the return of 
his property was sanctioned by the Maharaja within extraordinarily 
sbortspace of time, i. e. four days, (6) that be got the honour 
of being immediately presented to the Maharaja on .the eve 
of the Maharaja's departure for England, (7) that befor~ the 
Maharaja left the Indian shore the Maharaja issued an unusual 
order to give a share to Gamdur Singh in the property of a relative 
of his, (8) that Lal Singh is then murdered by GaOldur Singh 
and others, ~(9) that Gamdur Singh did this for selfish ends. 

12. To these facts accepted as proved in the judgment of 
the Patiala Court, the following further facts that are undisputed 
may be added: (1) That the Maharaja marries the murdered rt1an's­
Lal Singh's wife Dilip Kaur in public, that this woman is now the 
Maharani of Patiala; (2) That the murderer Gamdur Singh is 
subseguently released from the jail by the Maharaja, (4) that 
he is to-day the favourite of the Maharaja. 

13. Taking the thread from the facts accepted by the 
Patiala Court, let us think for. ourselves what were the selfish 
ends that tbe COLlrt believes Gamdur Singh had in view? And 
what were the selfish ends tbat Nanak Singh had in view? Tbe 
Court believes that both of them wanted the favour of the Maharaja. 
We however find that Gamdur Singh had secured it evel1before 
the murder. What could have led the Maharaja to sanction the 
return of the former's property suddenly before his departure to Euro­
pe ? \Vhat must be tbe reason of the "immediate and unusual meeting 
of the Maharaja and Gamdur Singh just at the time of~~e, Maharaja's 
departure ftomPatialalThe C!lurt says.that N&nakSing:h~ecured.hirtl 



all that:from the Maharaja.. But how could NanaJt Singh have done an 
that ? Nanak Singh must have represented something to the M'aha-. 
raja. What could that something be, which was even greater than 
the pressure of the British Government? What was tbe reason 
of the Maharaja's extraordinary concessions to Gamdur Singb 
immediately before the murder? Release of Gamdur Singh after 
conviction of the murder and marriage of the Maharaja with Dilip 
Kanr make the story complete. There was a row about this mur·· 
der of Lal Singh. The British police was also on the scene. A 
regular tr}aI was therefore unavoidable. That was done, q,nd shortly 
after this peculiar sort of trial was over, Gamdur Singh was released 
and was allowed to stay and enjoy his property and since then he 
has become tbe Maharaja's favourite in Paticlla. If Gamdur Singh 
was a dangerous man, his dangerous character was further proved 
by his conviction of murder. He ought therefore to have been 
exiled again. But straage!y enough reverse is the ca'ie. The 
inference is therefore irresistible. 

14. One thing more; the judgment speaks of Nanak Singh's 
official police diary; and it says that the diary seeks to implicate 
such a great person as the Mahard.ja. This means that the diary 
produced in the Court did mention the Maharaja's complicity in 
the crime. But the Court has ignored this point altogether. And 
that is quite understandable. 

15. The draft of a. divorce deed by Sir Daya Kishen the then 
Prime Minister of Patiala, the Maharaja's attempt to get possession 
of documents then in the custody of Nallak Singh's relatives, the 
use of the state pistol-all these go to support the theory . of the 
complicity of the Maharaja in this matter. 

16. Lastly, the statement written by Nanak Singh seems to 
be very natural. Except in one detail of the Maharaja's 
complicity, it is accepted by the Court. Nanak Singh had written 
it before he was arrested and convicted. He had nothing to 
gain then by falsely implicating the Maharaja in his diary.'" The 
statement shows his own guilt as well. Under the circumstances 



the statemant deserves to' be considered seriDusly. We are inclined 
to Itttach nluch v-eight to it. 

17. We believe, if the investigation Df this case IS taken 
in hand by the authorities and if witnesseb are immune frDm the 
conseqences of their stating the truth, all the olher actors Df the 
drama can be easily traced and the hidden hand behind this 
henious crime can be easily detected. 

Conclusion 

18. Thu<; we have reasDns to believe (1) that Sardar Lal 
Singh was murdered, (2) that he wac; murdered by Gamdur Singh, 
(3) that Gamdur Singh did <;0' to ~l"cure the Maharaja's fa.vour, (4) 
that he did it under instructions, received directly Dr in­
directly from the Maharaja of Patiala. The evidence detailed 
above make., out a strong prima facie case about the complicity 
of the Mdharaja in the murder Df Lal Singh. 

Count two: Setting up and maintaining of a 
bomb factory in the fort of Bahadur Garh 

in the Patiala State 

SlIostance of the allegation 

19. With a view to concoct evidence againrst the Maharaja 
of Nabha, the Maharaja Df Patiala set up a regular bDmb factory 
in the ·fDrt of Bahadur Garh in PatiaJa territory. TwO' Bengali 
youths were emplDyed (or the purpose. Dr. Baxis Singh was 
placed in charge. of the said factory. Dr. Baxis Singh says that 
the fact.ory gave an output of J 526 bombs. He further gives an 
account of how those bombs were disposed of by the order 
of the Maharaja. 

E~a ;. ~ ~f tj", tJIklfliion 

2(). The following is the evidence in sUpport of tbit count. 



JO 
1. Dr. Baxis Singh's statement Ex. 36. [See Appendix D.] 
2. Dr. Baxis Singh's affidavit,.. Ex. 36A. " *' 
3. Sardar Pratap Singh's statement, Ex. ~5. " 
4. Bhai Ram Singh·s statement, Ex 42. ,I 

Examination oj tJu evidena . 
21. ACcording to the statement of Dr. Baxis Singh, people 

directly concerned in the affair are (1) the Maharaja, (2) Sit 
Daya Kishen Kaul, (3) two Bengali youths bearing false names, 
(4) Dr. Baxis Singh, (5) Bijla Singh, and (6) Ram Singh. 

22. Next to the Maharaja of Patiala. Sir Daya Rishell the 
then Prime Minister is certainly an important figure in this 
et.ffair. He is no more in the service of Patia}a state now and is 
in retirement at Lahore. Two Bengali youths have disappeared 
and noDe knows where they are and who they were. Bijla Singh 
is in Patiala state service even now. Ram Singh is not in Patiala, 
but he is only half inclined to speak out as is seen from the manner 
in which he bas given his !:ttatement. As noted in the proceedings 
of this Committee, he has not appeared before the Committee, 
but has only sent his written statement. There too he is taking care 
to conceal his identity by the use of third person singular for 
himself in the whole of the statement. Such a !:ttatemel1t can have 
no value whatever in ordinary circumstances. But the Committee 
is assured by Sirdar Sardul Singh B. Sc. the Secretary of the 
Punjab Riyasati Praja MandaI, that he knows Bhai Ram 
Singh personally and that it is the -statement given by him. 
Further, the fact that there is the sword of Patiala hanging 
over him even now, is certainly to be taken into oonside. 
ration. His statement is to be considered in the light of these 
circumstances. 

23. Let us therefore see whether he is supported by any 
other evidence. The whole part played by Sirdar Pratap Singh 
in concocting evidence for' starting criminal cases. is related in 
this statement of Ram Singh; and Pratap Singh's statement ~rbo­
rates it in material . particulars. The part played by Saxis Singh 



it 
. 

as Qarrated in his statement also corroborat<!s the same. All this 
goes to show that the c;tatement of Ram Singh although not made 
before us directly is one which is worth consideration. 

24. Then there ic; a statement of Sardar Pratap Siogb. He 
comes a little late on the scene so far as this bomb factory is con-

. cerned. HE' only state!= that there was a talk of the bombs made 
in of Bahadur Garh in his presence between the Maharaja, 
Sir Daya Kic;hen Kaul and others. As a result of that talk bombs 
were supplied to him which he placed according to instructions. 
Thus, although not directly concerned with the factory, he is the 
witness wbo used the bombs made in the factory, which fact 
goes to support the allegation of the setting up and maintaining 
of the bomb fJctory at Bahadur Garh. 

25. There is one c;tatement of Sardar Sardul Singb B. Sc., 
who was the Secretary to the Shiromani Gurud\\'ara Prabandhak Com­
mittee. S. Sardul Singh.c;ay" tbat the Committee received the diary 
from Baxic; Singh with a mec;senger. The Committee was then in a 
c;eriou'i predicament. The Committee c;ent over to the 'Police the 
diary and the mesc;en;er wbo brought it. This c;tatement of Sardu] 
Singh corroborates that part of tb~ statement of Dr. Baxis Singh. 
ThiS shows that the c;tory of the bomb factory is not invented 
by Baxic; Singh. He recorded it in his diary which he wrote 
from day to day. and which he despatched to the S. G. P. C. 
when he was still engaged in the factory . . 

26. Then comes the most important statement of Dr. Baxis 
Singh.- He is as a matter of fact the Hamlet of this drama of the 
bomb factory at Bahadur Garh. His is really an extremely interesting 
and extraordinary story. It reads more like a novel than a reality. 
He was a hero who rescued a Sikh lady from the so-called police 
custody, taking his inspiration for this adventure from the pages 
of Sikh history. His reputation attra~ts the notice of the Maharaja 
of Patiala and of his Prime Minister, who appear to be in search 
of people with such daring spirit a.nd he. is reque.te4 to be in 
charge of the boQlb factory. Although unwi1ti:ng, he S1.lbmits ~nd is 



premised two villages, kothia, a motor and a large amount of 1110ney. 
But he does it only as a matter of compulsion, and with a double 
purpose of serving his community by exposing the Maharaja of 
Patiala. He keeps diaries wherein he enters every day occurences 
and takes the most novel course of introducing in each bomb a 
note giving the hic;tory of the bomb. He then escapes, and gets 
entrapped in Nabha. \VhC"n out, he hac;tens to relate hie; story in 
public and unburdens his heart before the Chief of the C. 1. D. 
in the Punjab. That gentleman tests his statement and is cOllvinced. 
of its truth and as a consequence afford~ the fullest protf'ction to 
this man. After thflt he has .been in hiding for several years 
passing his life in the junglec;. Twice he is fired at; but he escap~s 
unhurt. He told the whole of his history publicly before the 
Punjab State",' Peoples' Conference during the last week of 
December 1929. 

27. In his statement the following facts are noteworthy for 
the purpose of assessing the value of its contents : 

1. .He says he sent one copy of his diary to S. G. C. P. 
This fact is corroborated by S. Sardul Singh •• 

2, He says he sent his diary to the Government of the 
Punjab as also to the Government of India. 

3. He says h~ gave his statements to various C. I. D. 
Officials and finally to their Chief who tested all his 
statements and made a note in his favour in his records, 
This could be verified from the Government records. 

4. In spite of his public statements, the British Government 
have not taken any action against him. This shows 
what he says about the sympathy of C. I. D. Chief 
shown to him must be true. 

5. Although the Patiala State has asked the Govt. of the 
Punjab to surrender him to Patiala, the Govt. of the 
Punjab have refused to surrender him. This goes to prove 
that the Govt. have some faith in the statements of Dt. 
Bakshis Singh. 
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28. One more reason for believing the story of the wit­
ness is this : that if a ",itness wishes to exaggerate or t~n lieb, 
naturally he would point to sources or material which can never 
bt! tested or he would point out to no material whatsoever. But 
when he refers to material which is easily available, he takes the 
greatest risk of being branded as a liar and a perjurer. This 
gentleman has taken all this risk. Considering all the circums­
tances we are inclined to believe in the ~atement of this man, 

29. For all the rea'mns stated above, Wf' come to the conclusion 
that there j" a good prima jar£e case that' the Maharaja of 
PatiaJa did set up and maintain for <;ome tinw a bomb factory in 

hi" fort of Bahadur Garh in hi., territories. 

Count three: Disappearance of Bichiter Kaur, her 
daughter and her son. 

Substance of the allegation 

30. Bichiter Kaur was the wife of Dr. Baxis Singh. When 
Baxis Singh left Patiala he left behind his wi~, daughter and 
son. All of them have disappeared to-day. Baxis Singh says 
that his wife was murdered by the orders and in the 
presence of the Maharaja and that his daughter was murdered 
by Bijfa Singh's wife. His son was last seen being handed over 
to the Maharaja in his Mod Bagh Palace; but all efforts f'£ het 
father to trace him are gone in vain. 

Evzdence -in sUPfo'rt 0/ the allegations 

31. The following is the evidenc~ in support of this count. 

1. Sar.dar lTatap Singh's statement, Ex. 35. 
2. Dr. Bcptit Singh's statement, Ex. 36 am 36 A. 
S. Bftai Ram Singh's statement, Ex. 42. 
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E~a1mnatfqn oJ lite t'lJidmt8 

32. According to Dr. Baxis Singh, pe~ns directly concer­
ned in thi'! affair are. (1) Bijla Singh. (2) Ram Singh. (3) Pratap 
Singh. (4) the Maharaja. (5) Sir Daya Kic;hen and (6) Jeewanlal. 

33. Bfjla Singh is stiJI in the service of the State. Sir 
Daya Kishen and Jeewanlal have feft Patiala; even then 
theW- evidence is not available. The Committee has discussed in 
detail') what weight to be attached to Ram Singh's statement. 
It has alc;o discussed the evidence of Pratap Singh and Baxis 
Singh above. 

34. One faet is undisputed. It is this. That Bichiter Kaur 
and her son and her daughter have disappeared. Whether they 
ar~ murdered, or have died a -natural death or are alive somewhere 
is all a mystery. 

35. ]uc;t at the moment wben Baxis Singh was about to 
bolt from Patiala, he says, he entrusted his wife and 
children to the British C. I. D. Whether this is a fact, can only 
be testified by the C. I. D. officer Rai Saheb Bhagwanc1as conc­
erned. Naturally we could not have his evidence. But when we 
are believing all the other portions of Dr. Baxis Singh based on 
his own personal knowledge, thic; part of the statement too deserves 
to bl-' considered. We take it that Bichiter Kaur and her children 
have disappeared when they were in the jurisdiction of Patiala 

36. Then about their fate. So far as the son of the doctor 
is concerned, Pratap Singh, whose evidence is very natural and 
appears to be true, says that he was present when the boy 
was handed over to the Mabaraja in the Moti Bagh Palace. 
Pratap Singh had seen the boy before with the Maharaja's man, 
and he saw the boy last in Maharaja's possession. That i<; the 
last that is heard of the boy. 

37. About Bichiter Kaur, stories differ. Ram Singh confesses 
the different varieties of viotellce practised upon her, but says 
that her death took place after a Jong- illness. of cootie, 
due to violence. But Bakshis Singh narrates an.otber story. His 
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authority for this is Meheof Singh. Aceoniing to Bakshis Singh, 
Meher Singh was directly concerned in the murder. This Mehcr 
Singh has given his statement to the Punjab Riyasati Manda!. But 
he has not appeared before this Committee. Bakshis Singh narrates 
that Meher Singh told him that Bichiter Kaur was shot ~ead by 
the orders and in the presence of the Maharaja. But at the 
same time Bakshis Singh says that Meber Singh would" not 
confess this murder before anyone because that would make 
him liable for murder. Bakshis Singh further believes that if 
at aU, Meher Singh came before the Committf'e, he would say 
the same thing as Ram Singh 'has said. But Meher Singh has 
not come before the Committee. Nor has Ram ·Singh done so. 

38. Under the circumstances, there remains only the 
evidence of Baxis Singh who has' no direct knowledge of the 
murder or death of his wife and daughter: 

Conclusion 

39. We therefore come to the following conclusion. 

(1) That Bichiter Kaur who was last seen in the jurisdiction 
of the Patiala. State being not traced now, the Patiala 
barbar is accountable for the disappearance of Bichiter 
Kaur and her daughter. 

11. That the son of Dr. Bakshis Singh being last ,een in 
the possession of the Maharaja himself, he is personally 
liable for the disappearance of the boy. 

Count four : The Maharaja keeps and does not reJea,,, 
the wife of Sardar Amar Singb 

StibstancI o[ tke allegations 

40. The Maharaja took fa.ncy for the wif6 of one Sardar 
Amar Singh, when she was at her father's house in Patiala. The 
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woman is therefore kept in the Palace fOt" the last H~ years WRU-e 
Rhe ha<; given birth to a .,on and a daughter. H~r parents are given 
honorarium. Her husband Sardar Amar Singh has been oo'1tk. 
uously harassed with pros~cutions an of which have failed till now. 
Even to-day one prosecution has been started against him and 
he has' been thrown into jail. He is not released yet. 

41. Sardar Amar Singh applied to the Punjab Government 
and the Government of India, which have rerlied to him advi"ing 
to withdraw all his claims on his wife and accept Rs. 20,000/ 
from the Maharaja. Thi., offer i., not ac..:epted by Amar Singh. 

Evidence in s1t/tort of the al/egatio1t 

42. The following is the evidence 10 .,upport of thi"i count. 

(1) Statement of Suhawa Singh, the younger brother of 
Amar Singh, Ex. J9. 

(2) Copies of corre'lpondence with the Governtnf>nt Ex. 
39 A~ Ex. 39 B, & Ex. 39 C. 

Exam"tation of the c"Ozrie11ce 

43. Thi .. chargt> stand., 0 1 altogeth~r a different footing. The 
correspondence th,l.t pa""l!d between the Political Officers of the 
Governmnt of Indict on the one hand and Sardar Amar Singh on 
the other, distinctly prJves the ')ame to the hdt. 

44. Th~ letter of the Political Agent admits that the 
woman is the wife of Amar Singh. The letter further admits that 
she is with the Maharaja The letter moreover seems to encourage 
and connive at the whole affair by recommending to the husband 
the offer of Rs. 20,0001 made by the Maharaja. So the whole 
charge. is completely proved by this carrespondence. 

45. In Sikh Law divorce is not allowed. One married woman 
cannot marry another man under any circumstances. Even if 
Sardar Amar Singh withdraws his claim, that would absolve the 
Mahardja only from the civil liability and not from the criminal 
liability of adultery or enticing' t\l" taking away a married woman 
if the Maharaja is a private citizen. 
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Oonclusion 

46. we consider that this case is completely proved and the 
~aharaja deserves the same conviction which any other citizen 
of Patiala would have suffered under the Criminal Law i~ lQrce 
in the State. 

Count five : Illegal arrest and confinement of 5ardar 
Harchand Singh without any trial and confiscation 

of his properties worth about twenty lakhs. 

Substance of the allegation 

47. Sardar Harchand Singh was one of the bigge~t and the 
most respected Jagirdars in the Patiala State. For a long time be 
was an A. D. C. to the Maharaja. His wife frequently got invi­
tations from the Palace along with other aristocrats and officers 
of the State, Harchand Singh did not like to accept these invita­
tions. Just after Sirdar Kharak Singh's tour in Patiala, Harchand 
Singh was arrested and is now in Patiala Jail. All hie; properties worth 
about 20 lakhs have been confiscated by the State. His wife and 
children were driven out penniless in the street. His wife Sardarani was 
not allowed to take even her shoes; her person was searched by a 
mohameden officer and they could travel by the railway only when 
the station master gave them a loan of Rs. 10/-. Sons of the Sardar 
were likewise confined in their PatiaJa residence in company with 
their servants.for some time. They were then released. All this has 
happened without any trial and without any legal proceedings 
taken against him. No wrtitten order of any kind has been passed 
by the State. 

Evidenee tn .suj;fort of the alleGations 

48. FoUowing i. the evidence in support of this count 
(I) Evidence of Sardal'ani Rajihdar Kaur, Ex. Ex. 29 A, 

Ex. 29 B. 
(2) Evidence of Sardar Vajir Singh, £x. 30 and, ~x. 30 A. 
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Examination' of the evidence 

49. Sardar Harchand Singh is in jail in Patiala. His wife 
and children are outside Patiala. They appeared before tht 
Committee. The Committee took their statements aud examined 
them thoroughly. The Committee has found that their statements 
are true and they deserve to be relied upon completely. 

50. No more proof is necessary to prove the allegations. 
Everything that is necessary and pos'5ible to be adduced has 
been adduced before the Committee. 

Concluswn 

51. The Committee is therefore of opinion that the wholL~ 

charge is proved in toto. The State of Patiala and the Maharaja 
of Patiala are responsible for this high-handed and outrageous 
Zulum practised on Sardar Harchand Singh and his innocent family. 

Count six : 'concoction of false cases 

Substan<;c of the allegation 

52. Patiala Police concocts false cages against individuals 
who are the objects of the Maharaja's wrath. The following ic; 
the list of cases that have been brought to the notice of the 
Committee: 

1. The case concocted by the Patiala Police against Santa 
Singh and others for keeping bomb materials, wapons, etc. 

2. The case concocted by the Patiala Police against Bakshis 
Singh for keeping bomb material<;, weapons, etc. 

3. The case concocted by the Patiala Police against Sardar 
Dewan Singh for keeping cocaine, etc. 

4. Th~ case concocted against Sardar Amar Singh and his 
brother for different offences. 
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.Evidence in support 0/ the allegation 

53. The following is the evidence in support of this count: 

(1) Evidence of Pratap Singh, Ex. 33. 
(2) Evidence of Bakshis Singh, Ex. 36. 
(3) Evidence of Suhava Singh. Ex. 39. 
(4) Evidence of Ram Singh. Ex. 42. 
(5) Evidence of Diwan Singh, Ex. 42 B. 

Eramination of lite evidence 

54. Evidence of the first four Exhibits has been already 
discussed under former heads and the Committee has accepted 
tbeir statements as rdiable. 

55. The statement of Sardar Diwan Singh the editor of 
the 'Riyasat' in this connection makes a very instructive reading. 
Th~re has been a series of concoctions against him and in all of 
them Sardar Diwan Singh has been honourclbly acquitted once by 
the Court of Law and then by the Executive of the Government 
of India. In one case whtm, according to Sardar Diwan 
Singh, Patiala got cocaine placf!d in ,his houst', the case 
went up to the Law Courts. Then the Court did find that the 
cocaine was placed by the hirelings of Patiala, and some police 
officers concerned were dealt with by the Government. One ofthese 
officers Mr. Jiwanlal was then taken up in the Patiala Service 
and made thl:' Chief of C. I. D. That shows the mentality of the 
Patiala Darbar and has ar. important bearing on the question 
dealt with under the count. 

56. The evidence of Pratap Singh in this connection is 
very illuminating. He is the man who on instructions from the 
Maharaja placed bombs ete. in'to the house of Santa Sing . .It is he 
who gave false evidenc6 in the Court. It is he who suffered sham 
confinement. For all that he has received his reward from the 
Maharaja, of course not to his satisfaction. He has made a volu­
ntary and ful) confession before this Commitee and has rendered 
himself liable to legal penal ties for all that M has said we ore us 
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of a self--incriminating nature. We are therefore inclined to believe 
in his statement of concoctions of false cases by the Patiala $tate 
through him. 

57. One further fact that goes to strengthen our belief in 
the allegations under this count ic; that although the Patiala 
State Judiciary issued warrant against Dr. Bakshis Singh, the 
authorities in British India have refused to hand him over to 
Patiala; evidently they must have refused to believe in the truth 
of the cases sent by Patiala against him. 

58 Sardar Amar Singh, whose wife is detained by the 
Maharaja, is in Patiala Police custody even to-day under some 
trumpery charge. Evidence of his brother shows that both he and 
Amar Singh were once arrested and imprisoned; but there being 
no material to put up a case even before the Patiala Court, they 
were released. 

Canclusion 

59. Thus we find that it has been a common practice in 
PatiaIa to bolster up false cases against persons who are in dis­
favour of the Maharaja. We find that the cases pa.rticularly 
mentioned above have been proved to be false by the judicial 
courts and d.S • deliberately instituted to harass the individuals 
concerned. 

Count Seven: Inhuman tortures, illegal arrests 
and imprisonments, and high-handed 

consfiscations of property. 

~.J,lJstf1"ce of the all'lations 

60. The Maharaja of Patiala aTrested one Sardar Seva 
Singh Thikri wala, a prominent AkaIi l~ader. Sardar Kharak 
Singh, the well-known leader of the Sikh Community took it 
into his head to go to the Paticda State to ascertain faces in tlds 
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connection. His programme wac; advertised. So a number of 
people attempted .to go to meet him or to treat him where he 
encamped. Persons found to be so co-operating with 6ardar 
Kharak Singh were arrested, confined and tortured by the 
Patiala Police. Statements received in this connection make a 
staggering reading of the inhuman tortures, indiscriminate a.rre­
st'> and imprisonments without any trial, and illegal confiscations 
of property, and disclosed the utter absence of rule of law in Patiala. 

Evidence in suppo,.t of the allef!ations 

61. Following is the evidence in support of this count : 

Exhibits 6, 6A, 85, 86, 87,88,89,90, 91, 2, 3, 4, 7. 54 and 55. 

Examination oj the evidence 

62. There can be only three kinds of witne"lses in such cases: 
(1) victims themselves, (2) eye witnesses, (3) persons through whom 
these oppressive acts were committed. 

63. Of the first there are so many. We hwe ourst'lve<; exami· 
ned about a dozen of these witnet.,ses. We croc;s-exarnined them 
too, and then there were written statements of not Ie'>'> than a 
hundred in numb~r. We selected only specimen <;tat~ments for 
our file; because we did not wish to m~kc our file needl t ssIy cum­
bersome. All these victims are the subjects or Patiala. Most of 
them are still residing in that territory. They have got their 
lands and families there. Th;s fact coupled with the fact that they 
are giving minute details of the tortures, make their statements 
very reliable. 

64. Then comes the class of eye-witnesses, who are all evidently 
the subjects residing in Patiala. Ther~ were many who came 
before the Committee to say that the allegations made were 
absolutely true. Particulary at Buldhana, where Bishvedar Ridha 
Singh, the principal victim, appeared before the Committee 
not less than fifty persolls were persent in the hall of the ... 
Committee. These people themselves were not the sufferers, but 
they were dle e)'e-wjtnesse~ to wbat h~ betallen Ridha. Sjn~ht 
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They were unanimous in narrating in the most pathetic and 
touching manner that even the Devil would not do what Patiala 
Felice did to Ridha Singh. . 

65. There remain the Patiala servants of whom at least some 
are reported to be appearing sympathetic. But that evidence is 
naturally not available, and can only come forward when the 
British Government makes a public enquiry and the witnesses 
have got an immunity. 

Ct,nc/usion 

66. On the strength of evidence produced before us we find 
that there is a strong prima facie Case to hold that the Patiala 
lolice is guilty of illegal arrests, imprisonments and tortures of 
Sardar Rldha Singh and others; that further the Patiala State 
authorities are guilty of illegal confiscations of the properties of 
Sardar Rldha S10gh and others. 

Count Eight: Ruinous consequences of the 
Maharaja's Shikar 

Substance o[ the allegation 

67. The State of Patiala abounds in Bids and Forests. It also 
consists of hills near Simla. Simla itself belongs to Patiala, although 
the same is now given to the Government. But the Maharaja had 
no lake in the State. This hao; been specially made by erecting a 
big bund in the river Chunal. This dam is 1/2 miles wide and two 
miles long. Special canals have been constructed to join other 
canals with this dam, so that when the Maharaja wants to sh'JOt, 
superfious water can be taken away to .other canalii and vice 
f)WstJ. During the winter the Maharaja goes for a shoot in this lake. 
Weeds grown in water are to be cut off. So the poor agricultu­
rists of the surrounding villages are impressed to do this work in 
cold winter and are required to stand in water for the purpose. 



This dam is full of serpents and such other dangerous reptiles. 
So the ~ple are exposed to the consequences of cold and the 
risk of snake-bitt! in the watp-r. The fields near this dam are 
not allowed to be cultivated although the assessment for the 
same is recovered by the State. Roads nearby are not 
allowed to be used by the people. All provisions required by the 
Maharaja and his camp, namely ghee, milk, eggs etc. are to be 
supplied by the people without proper cost. The same is the case 
with summer-hunts in Pinjore etc. 

68. Moreover the Shikar-laws are causing ruin to the agri-
• 

culturists. All wild animals are protected by law. They cause 
serious damage to the crops. The agriculturists have to witness 
the destruction of their own crops with utter helplessness. 

Evidence in sttpport of the allegation 

68. Following i<; the evidence in support of thisc ount. 

Exhibits 8, 101 2, 4, 2, 17. 46 and 56 to 64. 

Examination of the cz1idence 

69. This Committee is concerned with the consequences of the 
Shlkar by the Maharaja. These Shikars involve a huge waste of 
time and energy of the Maharaja which ought to be spent by him 
in the work of the State. Further they entail enormous 
Joss to the poor people. One can very easily imagine what must 
have been the cost of such a big lake like Bhupinder Sagar which 
is specially built for the Maharaja's shoot. One canal is specially 
constructed to facilitate the shooting in the lake. Agricultural fields 
near this lake and forests specially reserved for the hunts, could 
be very profitably utilised for cultivation. That is another loss to 

the State caused by this expensive luxury of the Maharaja. 
But the worst feature of this luxury is the great harass­
ment to which the people are subjected to minister to the comforts 
of the Maharaja in this Shikar. Let us see what all that means 
to the people. 

70. WheJ1 the Maharaja is shooting in the lake, weeds grown -, 
in water naturally come in his way. So t.he people from the surr .. 



ounding villages ar~ compulsorily summoned to cut these weeds 
which they have to do in the intense cold of the Punjab, and that 
tOOt while standing in water. Further the water contains serpents 
and other reptiles which mean danger to the life of the people 
who are compelled to work there. Thus people are exposed to 
grave risk to their health and life in this forced labour. It is a 
gool news that people were not compelled to do this work last 
year and are not called for the work this year also. 

71. All necessary provisions for the camp of the Maharaja have 
to be c:;upplied by the people without adequate consiperation. This 
is another serious grievance. It may be that the State might be 
giving some paltry return in money for these provisions, but the 
fact rema.in., that people are compelled to provide these articles 
at the cost of even their family neces.:;ities when the Maharaja 
and the Tikka Saheb are camping for the <;hikar. Just at the 
time when the Committee was recording evidence in Ludhiana, a 
direct victim belonging to Lunda Tahsil informed the Committee 
that at the very moment the Tikka Saheb was camping near his 
village and the whole village wac; compelled to send all their 
stock of milk, ghee etc to the camp, so much so that they could 
not keep any surplus even for their children. 

72. \Vhen the Maharaja is going to the hills for the hunt he 
require" bullock carte:; to carry hi"i camp equipage a ... also to bring 
it back. Villager.:; are compelltid to "iupply all the necessary carts 
with a very inadequate remuneration for the same. 

7 3. People are further collected together in great numbers for 
the purpose of beating the forests. For this purpose they must 
leave their homes and cultivation and mu~t come to the camp to 
facilitate the hunt by the Maharaja. 

74. AU the evidence in support of these allegations was further 
tested by the cross-examination of witnesses by the Committee, and 
the Committee sees no reason to disbelieve the statements 
made before theq). 



Conclusion 

75. The Committee has therefore come LU the condJsion: 

(1) That the Maharaja's shikar costs enormous expenditure 
to the State. 

(2) That the people are put to all sorts of harassment to 
their persons and suff~r hardships in their cuttivatiqn 
in various ways during the shikars by the Maharaja 
and the Tikka Saheb or the guests of the Maharaja. 

(3) That the Begar meaning forced labour and the system of 
exacting provision with very inadequate payments is in 
full vogue during these shikars. 

Count nine: Tyranny of Begar 

Substance of the allegation 

76. Begar is rampant 10 the State. It is enforced by the 
State as under: 

(1) During the hunts arranged for the Maharaja and the 
Tikka 'Saheb or for the guests. 

(2) During the time when army moves for ~manouevrea. 

(3) During the visits of Revenue and Police officials In¢1u· 
ding even the smallest of them like Patwaris. 

77. Begar can be c1assfiiedd as under: 

Berar of men 
(1) To construct even the banks of the canals or to repair 

them, irrespective of the fact that these partieu'" 
canaL; are not at all intended for irrigatioll purposes. 

(2) To dig the canals. A canal five miles long, twenty feet broad' 
and ten feet deep was so dug for Shikar purposes only, 

( 3) To cultivate State Gardens. 



(4) Ta. construct and repair roads, at the time of tbe~Shikar. 

(5) To build urgent works like amphi-thealre fot wrestling 
matches. 

(6) To serve as village-guards during the night, known as 
Thikri Pahera. 

(1) To beat the forest and do similar work for the Maharaja 
during his Shikar. 

Berar of cattle 

(1) Of goats and calves required as bait for hunting the 
animals. 

(2) Ca.mels required for camps. 

(3) Bullocks with carts for camps. 

Exaction of provisions w thout proper price 

(1) Rations for the army. 

(2) Fuel, Grass; Mi!k, Ghee. 

(3) Eggs and fowls. 
Just at the time when the Committee was taking evidence 

at Ludhiana. the Tikk<t Saheb was camping nearby and we were 
informed that for four days all milk and butter of the whole 
vUlage was taken away forcibly. 

Evuknc8 tn support of tke alle~ations 

78. Following is the evidence in support of this count 

Exhibits 7, 8, 9, 14, 22. 27. [ see appendix. D. ] 

Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, 18B, 46, 56, 57, 58,59, and 61 to 84. 
[ see appendix. B. & D. J • 

ExtUlUftlllioM of tlu etJitkn~ 

79. All the statements received have been very mmutely 
examined by the Committee. With regard to the allegatio{'ls under 
this c.ount the C:>mmitee bad the pa.rticular advantage of meeting 
tbe agriculturi8ts from various districts; and they were anxious to 
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be cross-examined with a view to disclose the real, truth of the 
whole affair; ar.d the Committee is satisfied that the statements 'pro­
duced in support of the allegations under this count art! substan­
tially true. Although in the written statements, it is not mentio­
ned that payments were received by the people for for­
ced labour etc. the Committee did find during their exami 
nation, that some payments, of COurse quite negligible, were made 
in some cases. For the digging of a canal in Bhupender Sagar, (oe 

the cutting of the weeds in water, for bullock- carts taken in hills 
as also for the buikling of the amphitheatre for wrestling matches, 
some wages were paid. But they were so poor that in some cases 
they were not even accepted by the people. For example in the case of 
building the amphitheatre, it was an ordinary work of the p, W. D. 
which ought to have been carried out in the usual way by that depart­
ment; but the authorities compelled the agriculturists from a distance 
of even 20 to 30 miles to go to Patiala to build the theare. A 
single journey railway-fare from one such village is nine annas. 
So the poor villager has to pay one rupee and two annas 
for going and returning once and has also to pay' for his food 
during the day; and still he was paid annas 3 only as his wages. 
No wonder therefore that in many cases people did not accept 
the payment; and one does not know what happened to the 
amount so refused. It is said that the p(ople were made to sign 
the receipts of the money although they did not care to receive the 
same. It is possible that the petty servants may have appropriated 
the money thus remaining unpaid. That is the history of payments 
for the forced labour. 

80. But the question of payments is not one that really matt­
ers. The crucial point is the compulsion which is regularly resorted 
to, by the State for works that are of an ordinary nature and 
can be carried out in the ordinary way by the P. W. D. of 
the State. 

S1. The case of compulsion to supply milk, gbee and such 
other provisions has a. peculiarity all its own. It is point/!d out under " 
the count of Shikar how the compulsion interfere. with the daily 



D~esities of the children of each family. But it is not the 
c."'p alone 'that harasses the villagers. Movements of the State 
Army also cause the same hardships. The movement of the Army at 
th~ time of the tour of Sardar Kharag Singh, as also the annual 
manoeuveres of the Army in different parts of Patiala territory. have 
the same story to tell. Shikar and the Army-movements are 
particularly mentioned because on such occac;ions the entire stocks 
of provisions from tbe villages are requisitIoned, while the visits of 
Officers etc. are not mentionc;d because th,·y do not require such 
wholesale stocks. Otherwise they too require all tbe varieties of 
provisions these Ahikar-camps and the Army require. 

82. One special feature of this Begar is the compulsory nilSbt­
service as a village-guard, to be rendered by every house-holder 
in the villagl", The system is tbat every house hac; got its turn 
when one of its members should go to do the service; thuc; even 
if h~ is the only earning member of his family, he is paid nothing; 
and if he fails to go, he is punished. This is known as Thikri 
Pahera an i is in force throughout the State. It means that the 
elementary duty of protection also is not only not done by the 
State but is imposed forcibly 011 the people themselves. Almost all 
thtl wit'lesses that appeared before the Committee complained 
against this system and there i<; no reason to disbelieve them. 

Conc1u.~;on. 

83. The Committee is therefore of opinion . 
(1) That forced labour and exacting of provisions mentioned 

in the opening para of this count, are prevalent in the 
Patiala State. 

(2) That in some cases payments are made to the people, 
but they are negligible. 

(3) That the whole s)stem couses great hardship to the people. 

Count ten: Non-return of the war Loan 
S"bsfance of the all"tations 

84. During the time of the Great War Patiala State took 
~e War L~n in the n"me of tfte State. People of the St~te 



were asked to contribute towards this War Loan. Some people 
then received some of their money back, but the remainder is not 
still forthcoming, while some people have not received back any­
tbing till now. It app~ars that this is the ca.se in spite of tbe 
fact that the State has been refunded the Loan in its name, from 
the Government. 

Evifle"ct in .~upp~"" of the a!le/!a~ion 

85. Fo/1owing is the evidence in support of this count: 

(1) Ex. 40. {This is printed in full in Appendix D.) 

(2) Exs. 2, 3. 4, 5. lSB, 20B, 15, 17, and 56 to 84 (See 
appendix B & D. 

Exammatwn (If the evidence 
-

86. One great point in connection with this C0unt is that 
the people contributed to the \Var Loan Fund, because they were 
under the impression that a<; tbe British Government waC) a party 
to this Loan, they were sure to recover their amount. Although 
money was given directly to thc State, it was the credit of the 
Briti"h Government that was pre-cminently in view and it was this 
credit which inc;pired such an a,SlIrance in their minds. This is the 
rea<;on why in all the statements mentioned above, the witnesses 
have lairl considerable stress 011 this grievance. Although the 
disillusionmf'nt hae; come a little late, it has come and people are 
convinced that whosoever be the other party and whomsoever's 
credit may be at stake, there is little hope of recovering their 
money back if the State is the intermediary. 

87. A peculiar feature of the whole affair is that the people 
do not know in what .kind of \Var Loan their money was inws­
ted. Mcst of them have not got even the receipts of the money 
contributed by them. They do not also know why some of the 
money is returned and why the Tf'mainder is not so r~turned, as aho 
why some people are paid while othere; are not paid at alL They 
are quite unaware 0( what is the actual state of affairs, that is, 
whether the money is received in the State Treasury or noti or whe· 



ther the money is lying somewhere in the transit in other depart­
ments of the State. All this confusion is due to one defect. which 
is that the whole amount was contributed in the name of the Patiala 
State. If the amount had stood in the name of each individual 
in the books of the Government, there would have been no room 
for all these vagaries and the credit of the British Government 
would not have been shaken in the minds of the people. Anyhow 
the statements of the witnesses in this connection are thoroughly 
reliable. 
Lone/usi-on 

88. We believe that some of the War Loan money alth ugh 
r(covered by the State from the British Government is not 
refundt>d to the people and if thiS would prove to be true to that 
extent, it would amount to misappropriation of the War Loan money 
by the State. The matter deserves to be thoroughly enquired into 
by the British Government. 

Count eleven: Increment in R.evenue Assessments, imposi­
tions of new taxes and other Revenue grievancies 

Substance of the allegations 

89. It is found that the land revenue assessment of some 
villages has been raised from Rs. 700 to 1175 and so on without 
any formal or informal enquiry simply by the order of the 
Darbar. New taxes, such as 3 as. per Bigha, which is called 
'Khush Haisyat' tax-that is I cheerful tax'-are being impos;:!d a'1d 
e'ollected without any ceremony. Water-tax is being recovered 
even though agriculturists dug and buit wells at their own 
expense, the State contributing absolutely nothing. 

90. A number of villages have been given over to the Mahara­
ja's favourites who invariably have abandoned the cash system of levy­
ing assessment and have resorted to a system of levy in kind-recovering 



a share of produce involving innumerbJe hardships to the Kyats. Agri­
cuturists of some viltages are treated as possessing no proprietory 
rights in the land which means that these agriculturists are looked 
down as degraded by their caste people, and k consequence they 
do not get girls in marriage. This is proved by. th~ fact that out 
of every four adults only one is married in these villages. 

91. Nazal Act which takes away the right of inheritance of 
the legitimate heirs removed to more than 5 degrees, is another 
hard'lhip of the people (If Patiala. 

92. Bribery Is the order of the day. 

Evidence in support 0/ the a/legatinns 

93. Following is the evidence is support of this count: 

Exs. 21, 25, 26, 48, 50, 16, 58, 63. [See Appendix D.] 

Exs. 56 to 84. [See Appendix B.] 

Examination of th~ ef)uience 

94. The Committee has not gone minutely into the Revenue 
Ad-ninistration of the State. It does not therefore propose to deal 
exhaustively with the subject. It only refers to some of the 
complaints against the department as found in some of the state­
ments tendered before the Committee. 

95. It was stat~d to the Comm!ttee by some of the witne­
sses that the Tehsildar went to their village and declared an 
increment of 33% in the assessment. This method of the Revenue 
Department is stated to be very common. All the witnesses that 
have appeared before us agree on this point. 

96. Sti1l more curious are ways of the department as seen.in 
the levy by it of the water-tax, even though no water is supplied 
to the cultivators. A cultivator constructs a well from his own 
funds, the State rendering no help whatsoever, but when the 
cultivator begins to use the water of the well, the State comes 
forward and charges the water-tax. 



97. All the statements referred to above in connection with 
this count are short summaries. Witnes_ses have come before the 
Committee and the Committee is considerably impressed by them. 

98. The COplmittee therefor~ believes that there are prima 
facie grounds to hold that: 

(1) The Land Revenue Assessment is increased according 
to the whims of the Revenue Department. 

(2) That different kind~ of taxes are levied with no justifica­
tion and with no ceremonies whatsoever. 

(3) That the Maharaja gives away villages to his favourites 
who adopt methods of harassment to the Ryots of these 
villages for the purpose of extorting more money 
from them. 

(4) That non-recognition of proprietory rights in some 
villages has caused great hardship to them. 

(5) That the Nazal Act is bitterly resented by the people. 

Count twelve: Misappropriation of funds raised 
for public purposes 

571bstnnce of the allegation 
99. The Maharctja is habituated to raise from the people vari 

ous funds for public purposes; but as a matter of fact such works of 
public utility are rardy carried out and the money collected is 
spent by the Maharaja for his private use. The following are some 
of the funds brought to the notice of the Committee : 

(1) P ARTITlON Of>' PROPERTY FUND: This is raised in many 
villages saying that the state would take steps to effect 
partition of the property. Partition was never made 
and the money is not returned. 

(2) X RAY FUND' This was raised from most'of the villages 
of the state, stating that the new instrument'is nece# 
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ssary (or the Hospital in the interests of the people. 
People do not know what has become of that Fund. 

{3) CONFERENCE FUND : Villagers were told that a Conferen~ 
ce or Congress was to be held in Patiala for their 
benefit. People. do not know what that Conference wa.<; 
and whether it was held or not. 

(4-) CANAL BRIDGE: Most of the villages hav~ got canals 
and it is a great hardship to them to cross these canals 

'It to go to the other side. It was represented to them that 
the fund was needed to construct bridges on these 
canals. Bridg~s have never been built and the money is 
not at all returned. 

(5) SCHOOL<; : Fund for schools was raised. Neither the 
school nor the money which left their pockets was visible. 

(6) LOCAL CJ.8S : This cess is collected by the State from the 
villages for education, dispensary and roads. But the 
fact is that in a T ehsiI of 400 villages ther~ are hardly 
half a dozen schools. As for di"pen~ries. they are rarely 
to be found even in T e hsil towns, not to speak of 
villagE'S which have got none. Metalled roads there are 
none for the use of the villager ... 

Evuience in stepport of tlu: allegatum 

101. The following is the evidence in support of thi .. count· 

Ex. 2, 4, 5, 12, 16, 20A, 20B, 67,68. [See Appendix D.] 
Ex. 15, 17, 18, 56 to 66 and 69 to 49. [See Appendix B. ] 

Examination of tke evzdence 

102. We find this to be quite a novel feature in Patiala, rarely 
found in other States, namely the raising and collecting of such fu~ 
nds.:1t is certainly a very ingenious way of adding to the revenues 
of the State; no doubt it shows the utter bankruptcy of constructive 
genius and gross immorality and dishonesty. 

103. We have found from a volume of evidence that a fund 
knOWll as X ~y Fuqd was raised and collected, from the PatiaIa 

5 
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territory. We really wonder why a special fund is ~ry for this 
purpose. It is an apparatus of the hospital. If the State thinks it 
to De necessary the State bas got to provide the money from 
the State treasury, or SGrne ebaritably inclined gentleman ma.y 
donate that sum. But why and h()w a special fUl1d was raised for 
this purpose passes our comprehension. It can only be explained 
this way-that the money was to be taken from the people under 
some pretext. This one was thought convenient and it was ado. 
pted. The e;ame is the rt"a.~n for the rest of the funds. 

104. The Local fund cess is an imitation of Briti~h India. Un­
fortunately it is an imitation only for the purpose of collection and 
not for expenditure. We can understand that the State cann t open 
1itllools in an villages from this fund; but only six primary schools 
in a Tehsil of 400 villag~ is cert1.inly scandalous. With no 
dlspensarit!s, no roads and with such a meagre number of primary 
schools from a fund which chargee; two annas per Bhiga, it is very 
easy to say that not only no extra money is spent by the State from 
its general resourcee; as ie; done in the British India, but even thi'i 
money which ie; specially rai'ied for the purpose d~ not 'ieem to 
be fully utilised for it" legitimate purpose. It i'i certainly discreditable 
at.; the facts are found to be true. We accept aU the evidence 
tendered in thi'i connection and it makes OLlt a pruna laac cat.;e. 

COUC/USlO~l .. ' 

105. We therefore find that the \1aharaja raisec; nuoey by 
way of pudic fund'i and does not render any account ot them for the 
purpo<;cs they were meant for. Thi., is a t.;heer breach of faith. 

3. OPINION 

106. We ar~ a ... ked by the \Vorking Committee to state our 
Opitlion on the e;ubstaoce contained in the Memorial pttesentecl to H. 
E. the Vicer()y by ten citizen'i of the Patiala.State. With this .purpose 
ill view we have examined in the foregoing chapter the n'lQtr:mat 



.as 
that came to us. V\T e are concious of the fa.(.t that all this material 
was gathered behind the back o( the ruler of PatiaIa and it does 
not bear tbat 'value which a cross-examination by the opposite 
party would give to it. But that is one way of looking at it. There 
is another as wdl. The tour of the Committee was widely 
advertised in the Press. The Committee wa .. quite prepared to give 
quarters to the other party if they meant to pre')ent their side of 
the q~estiQn. But while Patiala State could <;pare their police 
to surround tbe Committee-room everywh~re and attempt the 
stopping of evidence that wa<; forthcoming, they made no attempt 
to respond to the public invitation given to all by the Committee 
to help in the Committee',) work. After that the Committee had 
to faU back upon the only alternative which wa<; to go on exparte. 
None of the m~mbers of the Committee has any intere<;ts. friends 
or relation .. in the P,uiala State. None of them even knew any 
citizen or the ruler of Patiala. Theirs ha<; been a perfectly disinter­
e<;ted ta<;k. They tried their level best to ascertain the truth as far 
a<; possible and to convince themselves abovt the leliability of the 
witnesses. All that could be done under the circumstance<;, was done 
by tl:em to fill up the gap of the ab<;ence of the other party. 

107. At the wor<;t our enquiry can bt' <;aid to resemble a 
police inve<;tig'itioll. In the ca<;e of offence<; alleged against ordi· 
Ildry people, the police hold an inve<;tigatioll behind the back of the 
accused, and when there i'i sufficient material for a />rzma facle case, 
they send up the ca<;e for enquiry before a magistrate; and then 

the magistrate ha<; to hold a regular enquir),. That i<; just our posi­
tion. We have had in our possession a complaint against the 
Mabaraja of Patiald.. We held an inve'>tigCl;tion behind the back 
of the Maharaja; and a<; a result we proceed to state our opinion 
a.;; to tbe sub<;tance in th~ allegations, that i<;, whether there exi~tq 
trima facw ground<; in support of the Memorial. 

108. We have in the second chapter exhaustively dealt with 
aU that cattle in our possession in this conn~ction, and we have stated 
our conclusions 011 each of the count framed by us. Certainly our 
conclusions do not 't."Over all the alJeptions mentioned in the 



Memorial. They cover only a few of them. But the ,point is, that 
not even one of the allegatiolls mentioned in tbe Memorial has been 
found by us to be either wtl>ng or malicious, Naturally we could 
cover o:'l1y a small field, but y;'hatever cllme to us in that small 
field has all gone to support the allegations in the Memorial. As a 
matter of fact, in some of . the matters the material 'Was even 
sufficient for a final verdict. Thus judging from what we had an 
occasion to examine, we have no hesitation' in stating tbat the 
allegations made in tbe Memorial are not made lightly or irres­
ponsibly, but have the backing of very solid and in many cases 
startling and shocking facts. 

109. We therefore find it a.s our deliberate opiOlon that the 
-Memorial submitted to H. E. the Viceroy by the citizens of Patiala 
.bas a great substance in it and itl one which must be taken up 
very seriously by all, be they individuals or a !System, if they 
have a soul to swear by. 

Amrltlal V. Thakker 
O. R. Abhyankar 
Amrltlal D. Sheth 

I am sorry I could not accompany the Committee of Enquiry, 
due to aft act of social jorce majeure-a Committee which was 
appoint~d at my suggestion. if not initiation. I am glad to sign the 
Report, and can say that on evidenc~ a case of "j 'Accuse" has 
been made out by the Committee. and I think that the Indian 
States' Peopl~'s Conference has justified its 'raison d'e/re' and may 
well consid~r the Report a reath,!r in its cap-not that in holding 
th~ enquiry, it has done anything but its duty to the People ,of Ind'· 
ian States 011 whose behalf it speaks. I suggest that the Report be 
dedicated to the Sovert!ign British State whose duty vis a flU 
tbe Report is now clear. Will the Governtnent of India take up die 
tnatter and hold a judicial enquiry? The eRquiry. if held, woutd 
demonstrate in deed more eloquent tban words .. that the ~ereign 



State cannot be passive spectators of what is going on in the Indian 
States. as what is true of Patiala is true" more or less, of many: an 
Indian State. The very fact that tbe Sovereign Power, if proper 
mateTials are placed before it,wiH hold an enquiry will to a great 
extent put the rulers of Indian States to thinking and this can­
not but be beneficial in its effects. 

But the questien is : will the BritJsh Sovereign Power do 
so? If it does not, it will be "non-co.. operating" with the people of 
Indian States, and the implications and dangers of non-co­
operation are too well-known to be impressed on the British Raj. 

Tbe Maharaja of Patiala I is reputed to be a sportsman. 
Will he be 'Sport' enough to ask for an impartial judiciaT enq~iry 
and thus seek to free his state and per~on from 'the allegations 
so openly made by his subjects and established by the Committee 
of Euquiry. 

I trust neith~r the Governn ent of India nor the PaliaJa 
State wi11 treat the Report as 'non-est' and in that trust and 
hope I sign the same. 

Lakbmldas RowJee TAlrceA 

T/tI! Patiala Enguiry Committee Report was submitted to 
tile V'f)rking Committee of the C01l:fMence whick una,,,mO?lsly ado­
pted th6 same t"n its meet'ing of tlee 5th. February, 1930, specially 
CQ1IfJe1Ud {or Ike purpose. 
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[ A NO TE.: With, 1'~gard to l'he Count Six about tM con­
FOc#o,,! (If false raS8S, Statement .:(J/ Sa,-dar Diwan Singh (E'6. '42 

. ,Ii) .cmtld 'n(Jt, t~ron/!:Jz. ifUidzJt1:tence, be p1'inted UI Appendix G, as 
aruwttnced und('1' that C01~ in tke Evidence Setc/on. (~ee pag8 
I25· Appendix /), Evidclzce Secti01l.) So, the statement referred to 
abm1e is printed ne1'C. ] 

Statement of Sardar Diwan Singh Maftoon 
Editor "Riyasat", Delhi, Ex 42 B. 

The ill-fated pamphlet "Khun-i-Shabadat Ka' ek Qatra" 
('I A drop of the blood of martyrdom") captivated the attention of 

~ the MahR raja of Patiala for the first time in 1917, and since then the 
evil eye of the Mabaraja is on me. He not only got the pam­
phlet confiscated by the Government of Sir M. O'Dwyer, but 
secured my arrt'st also as an author of the offensive pam­
phlet. I wac; produced before Mr. Tollinton the then Deputy 
Commissioner of Lahore, who, inspite :of my bold stand to take 
my trial in order to expose the atrocious activities of the Maha­
raja. ordered my release on the ground that I was very young. 
I was in those days acting as the sub-editor of "Hindustan" of 
Lahore and the Pamphlet in question was written ~s a protest 
against the tyranny of the Maharaja with respect to the 
reHgious and social reformer Bhai T eja Singh of Bhasor. 

There were other papers also which had been writing agai­
nst the actions of the ruler of Patiala. The entire country was in 
those days labouring in the throes of the Great War and the 
Maharaja of Patiala had been successful in gaining the favours 
of the British Government by a show of extreme loyalty and 
concern in that struggle. My arrest therefore under the Defence 
of India act was not a difficult job for the mighty ruler, but t~ 
result proved abortive. 

In 1922 I started a daily by name "Panth" at Lahore and 
ill that I explained in det~i1 the mal-administ~tion of the ruler 



and turther exposed the mystery of the murder of Sardar Lal 
Slngh. In order to punish me, the Maharaja got some hired 
mecctlJ:laries who- succeeded in planting cocaine at my pla~ 1 
was ·arrested and pllt on my trial. Thl! trying Magistrate found 
me ab.roJtltety innocent and acquitted me. In hie; order the Ma­
gistrate held that cl)caine had been planted at my house by hi· 
red persons and that Patiala had bi., hand in the affair. As 
a result of this acquittal, several police office!'" at Lahore got 
into trouble which led to the dismi.,sal of one and the resigna­
tion of another. 

In 1923 when the administration of Nabha State was taken 
up by the Government of India, the Mahar .l.ja of Patiala got me 
arrested by the Admillistrator on charge of Sedition. I was kept 
in tbe lock up for four months without any trial, but before I 
could be e'\tradited and handed over 10 Patiata, J was released 
by ordere; of tbe Viceroy, Lord Reading. J thus ec;caped (rom 
the cruel clutches of Patiala. 

The "arne year another attempt wac; made against me in 
shape of a Criminal Case. It was alleged that in 1914 I had 
taken a sum of Rs. 2001- from a Baniya by name Jotram at Mansa 
(Patiala State) with the object or giving that money to some 
other persOn, that the money had not been repaid by me to Jotram 
and that I had thus committed criminal breach of trust. The State 
c;ubmitted the papers to the agent to the Governor-General 
Punjab States, with a view . to obtain extradition warrants 
against me. The Agent thought the whole story a clumsy conco­
ction and refused the warrants. This rebuff and disappointment 
should have been sufficient for an ordinary prudent man to 
stop all his nefarious activities against me, but the Maharaja was 
intl~ratigable in his attacks, and the heads of the hydra sprouted 
again, when one fine morning in 1927 my house at Darya Gunj, 
Delhi was suddenly besieged by Patiala Police and the whole 
place was ransacked under the name of ,. Search". I was arrested 
and the charge agaitit me was the same old interecstin8' incid~t 



of criminal breach of trust with respect to the sum of Rs. 200/­
of Jotram Baniya of Mansa. This incident led to a lengthy discu­
ssion in the Assembly and a series of questions in the House of 
Commons and the outcome of all this was that the G()vernment 
of India acknowledged my innocence in the matter and refused 
handing me over to the State. . 

Being baulked of his prey a fourth time, the Maharaja in 1928 
and prior to this also, made unwarrantable attempts through hired 
and desperate persons to put my life in jeopardy. But as I became 
aware of such activies, I informed the Government of India, Local 
Government and Police, with the result that Local Government 
gave me a licence for keeping a revolver for self-protection. 
Inspite of the fact that I have never cared for the mean and ugly 
attempt!; of the Maharaja, I still maintain that my life i!'; not free 
from danger at the hands of a relentless and ullscruFulous enemy 

During the course of the last year also, the Maharaja made 
several attempts to move the Government to prosecute me, but 
the Government always refused to take any such action against 
myself. 
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PROCEEDINGS 

Budhladha : 15th December 19:J9 

1. The Committee held its sitting to-day at about 10 A. M. 
111 the Mandi of Ru(!hladha when Messrs. Amrit1al Thakkar and 
Amritla\ Sheth, member<; of tIll' COtnlTlittee, were present. Mr. 
Thakkar was in the chair. 

2. Sardar Jaswantsillgh DallewaIia working president of the 
Punjab Riyasati Praja Mandal, Shriyut Labhuram Kalia secretary 
of the Ma.ndal and Sardar Taja Singh memher of the executive 
committee of the MandaI were prt'sent to help the Committee 
in its work. 

3. The gentlemen of the Praja MandaI intimated to the 
Committee that although the Committee had come to inquire in­
to the allegations made by the Patiala state people against the 
present Maharaja, there was a great desire on the part of other 
states as well to place their grievances before the Committee. 
Praja MandaI, therefore, wished the Committee to hear the people 
of other states as well. On these reprc<;entations of the Praja 
MandaI, the Committee decided to take the statements of the 
people of other states as well. But as the Committee 
is not authorized by the parent body to enlarge its scope 
of work, these statements would' be taken only for the matter of 
information of the Indian States' People's Conference and all this 
material would be handL'd over to the Hon. General Secretary 
of the Conference at the end of the Committee's labours. 

4. Just at the commencement of the business it was found 
that the witnesses that came forward to give evidence:.before the 
Committee were numwring more than a thousand. It was tmpe. 
ssible to deal with them all. So it was decided as under; 



(1) Written ~tatements of the witnesses present which are 
already tendered should Q~ first exall1ineo •• 

(2) AU important points from' the written statements so 
examined should be noted and the written statements 
that cover up the<;e points should be taken up. 

(~) Witnec;ses who have made the<;e statements should then 
be called in. Their statements be read out to them and 
get them contirmf'Cl. 

(4) These witnesse<; and other people of the same village 
and teh<;il should be collected together and a sort of 
croc;s-examination of the particular witness in company 
with thl' rest shoul(l be held. 

(5) Witnec;<;es who have not given their written statements 
but who have something new and important to com· 
municate should then b~ examined in company with 
witnesses of their villages and tehsils. 

(6) As regards Patiala witnesse<; examination should relate 
only to principal important heads mentioned in the 
now famous Patiala Memorial to the Viceroy signed 
hy ten gentlemen and .,hould not go into minor or 
individual ~rievances. 

5. After this procedure wac; decided upon, the question 
arost' as to whether the inquiry "hould be public or private. It 
was pointed out to the Committee that a number of police 
official., and constables from Patiala State had arrived and they 
were a<,king people not to give evidence. The Committee was 
informed that Patiala c;tate had taken very strict measures to s~e 
that the people did not at all go to the Committee and that 
people had taken great risk in approaching the Committee. There 
was a belief that if the police were allowed to be present during 
the Committee's proceedings; there was a certainty of harsh 
repressive measures being taken against the witnesses that may 
come forward to give evidence. The gentlemen ofthe Punjab Riyasati 
rra)a MandaI, therefore, requested the Committee tha.t the state 



police officials or conc;tablec; should not be allowed ' to be present 
while ;the Committee was recording the evidence. 

6. On these representation'> of the Praja . Manual the 
Committee resolved ae; under : 

"While the Committee doee; fecI that the inquiry should 
better be public which every olle call attend with ah"olllte freedom} 
the committee cloes not want to "hut it'- eyl''' to thl' fact that 
there ie; a very gre,tt prohability-which may ("'L'n he termed 
certainty-that the witnesc;ee; may he' hara'>"ed by the Patiala. state 
officials in many iIlega.! way" ill con"equenct' of their having 
appeared he fore the Committee; and in the circum~tances when 
the Committee ha'> no power to ,lfford any protection to such 
witnesse'i, the Committee re'iolvec; that none except the members 
and officerc; of the Pr,lja MandaI and the witne~<;es that express 
their desire to gh e evidC'llce be allowed admisc;ion without the 
permission of the chairman of the Committee, which wiII certainly 
be accorded to all bonafide "pectator<;. The Committee note" that 
inspite of the fact that a very wide publicity ic; given to the 
holding of the inquiry here and at other places and although 
a number of Pcl.tiala polict' officiale; have arrived here, 
none of them have approacheu the Committee or ot11'erwise 
expre<;sed their dec;ire to be pre~ent at the time of recording 
evidence of witne<;sec.,. The Committee would be quite willing to 
allow them to be pre"ent if they intend to prec;ent the other 
side of the picture, hut would not aIJo~ them for merely 'policing' 

the proceedings." 

7. Shriyut labhuram acted· ac; an in terpreter during the 

Committee's work to-day. 

B. The Memorial submitted by Patiala citizens to the 
Viceroy was then taken on file. Sardar Bhagwan Singh of Lango­
wal, one of the signatories . produced it. Ex: 1. 

9. Following o:;tatements were recorded: 

Ono statement signed by ...... a.nd five others out of whom 
five were present, was taken up. 
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Original c;tatement in Urdu ic; marked Ex. 2. 

English tran"Jation is marked Ex. 2A. 

Another statement signed by ...... and three others out of 
whom ...... wa'i pre'ient was taken up. 

Original statement in Urdu is marked Ex. 3. 

Engli'>h Trall'iIation i<; mad,.ed Ex. 3A. 

On(-' more 'ltaternent ~igned by ...... dUll t'ight othl'r<; uut of 
whom ft\'e wert' pre'l("'l1t Wd.S al'>o taken lip. 

Original statement in Urdu is marked Ex. 4. 

Englj'lh Translation is marked E". 4A. 

All the 'itatementc; were then taken up together and read 
out to witne<;sec; who confirmed them. 

Oral examination of witne<;<;es in company of the villager3 
is markt'd Ex. 5. 

Statement of.. ....... in Urdu is marked Ex. 6. 

Engli'>h translation Ex. 6A. 

Oral examination Ex. 6B. 

Oral examination of witness ...... Ex. 7 

" " " 
Ex. 8 

" " " 
Ex. 9. 

" " 
., Ex. 10 

" " " Ex 11. 

" " '> Ex. 12. 

10. All important statements having been taken and 
nothing more remaining to be done here, the Committee closed its 
proceedi.ngs at 7 P. M. and left for Ambala the same night . 

..$ 

Ambala : 19th December 1929 

1. The Committee held its sitting in the Kothi of Lala 
Dunichand. Messrs. Thakkar and Sheth were present. Mr. Thakkar 
wac; in the eha!r. Sardar Teja Singh acted as an interpretor for 
this day's session. 
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2. The Committee began its work at 3 p. M. and dosed 
the sitting at 7: P. M. The procedure adopted at Budhladha was 
followed and the following statements were recorded : 

Statement of Ex. 13. 

" 14. 

" " 15. 
16. " ......,. 

3. During the course of the proceedings the Committee 
was informed that round about the Kothi where the evidence 
was being recorded Patiala police ofliciaJ" antI constables were 
seen in large numbers and the ,vitne!:.ses complained about this. 
The Committee therefore v. ent out to' see things for it. 
self. Some men looking like police were !:.hown a'> Patiala police 
men. To their face they were pointed out a., <.,uch and ':>till they 
kept quiet alltl did not protc .... t that they were not police men. 
The Committee thought that there appeared to be a good deal 
of truth in the complaint lIlade to them. 

4 Sardar Kapursing of Ambala and one Mahol11edan gen­
tleman who introduced him!:.elf a<; the vice president of the Jocal 
Cotlgre!:.s Committee were present during the greater part of the 
Committee's \\ ork. They were allowed admission hy the .ch,i.irman. 

5. The Committee left for Ludhiana the same night. 

til 
Ludhlana : 30th December 19:19 

1. The Committee was ready for its work here at 9 A. M •. 
lt went at the office of one vakil Raghbir Singh whose office 
room he had kindly lent for the purpose, a" intimated to the 
Committee by the officers of the Punjab Riyac;ti Praja MandaI. 
But when the Committee reached there the vakil wac; found un­
willing to allow the use of his room. He would neither come 
out and talk to the Committee nor was he willing to let the 
members of the Committee &er: him in hi" room, e\'CIl though 
the Committee intimated its desire to see him to understand the 
situation directly from him. The Committee was informed by the 
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gentlemen who had arranged for this room that a great pressure 
was brought uptJtl him by the Patiala officiers then in Ludhiana 
and he Wa$ therefore unable to allow the Committee to work in 
his office ;oom. The Committee had therefore to leave his piace. 

2. The arrangement for holding the sitting of the Commi. 
ttee was then made in the Sikh Gurudwara. There too it was soon 
found that certain sikhs, said to belong of the Patiala state, expre­
ssed their determination to remain present during the session of the 
Committee without its permission in case it was held in that Guru­
dwara. It was therefl)r~ thought inadvisable to hold the Committee's 
sltting there. Under ~lese circumstances that place too was given up. 

3. Workers of the Punjab Riyasati Praja MandaI ultimately 
secured a place 011 the first floor of the building situated in the 
middle of the bazar where the Committee went and began its work 
at 1 p. M .. Messrs. Thakkar & Sheth were present, Mr. Thakkar 
presiding. Sanlar Teja Singh acted as an interpretor. 

4. The following statemen ts were recordt:d: 
Statement of •.• ••• and others original Ex. 17. 

" " " English Ex. 17 A. 
" IJ 't oral exam. Ex. 17 B. 
" "and others original Ex. 18. 
" " I, Etiglish Ex. 18A. 
" " " oral. exam Ex. 18B. 
" " ,1 original Ex. 19. 
IJ " " oral exam Ex. 19A. 
I, U and others original Ex. 20. 
" " " English Ex. 20A. 
II " " oral exam. Ex. 20B. 
" 'I oral examination Ex. 21. 
I, 1'" Ex. 22. 
,t ".1 Ex. 23. 
" "" Ex. 24. 
tl 

It " ,t ,I 
" ,. 

" 
If 

Ex, 25. 
Ex. 26. 
Ex. 27. 
Ex. 28. 


